FILED

OCT 0 2 2014

No. 326047

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON



CITY OF WALLA WALLA and COUNTY OF WALLA WALLA,

Respondents,

VS.

TERRY KNAPP,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael E. de Grasse Counsel for Appellant WSBA #5593

P. O. Box 494 59 South Palouse Street Walla Walla, Washington 99362 509.522.2004

INTRODUCTION

Substantive and procedural errors converge to require reversal of the order of public use and necessity and dismissal of the City of Walla Walla's petition to condemn Terry Knapp's property as a blight. This case involves the interpretation and application of the statute that declares condemnation of blighted property to be for a public use and prescribes criteria that a city must meet to acquire blighted property by condemnation. That statute, RCW 35.80A.010, allows condemnation of allegedly blighted property only on proof of any two of three "factors" that are set forth in the statute. The two on which this case turns require the City to prove that: (1) the property has not been lawfully occupied for a period of a year or more; and (2) the property "constitutes a threat to the public health, safety, or welfare." RCW 35.80A.010. The trial court entered an order of public use and necessity based on findings of fact and conclusions of law that were made at the conclusion of oral argument of the City's motion.(CP 1061) Although factual assertions by the City purporting to meet the factors required by RCW 35.80A.010 were contravened on the record, no trial was held, no witnesses testified and no

conflicting evidence was weighed or reconciled.

Had a genuine judicial inquiry, as required by the *Washington*Constitution, Article 1, § 16, been conducted by the trial court, the City's failure of proof would have been starkly exposed. Notwithstanding this procedural deficiency, the record shows grounds for denying the petition on the merits. That Mr. Knapp's property has not been lawfully occupied for a period of a year or more was not proven. His property does not constitute a threat to public health, safety or welfare. Therefore, the trial court should be reversed and the petition for condemnation should be dismissed. Mr. Knapp should be awarded his costs, including reasonable attorney fees.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR, ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court erred by entering its order of public use and necessity in the condemnation case brought by the respondent City of Walla Walla against the appellant, Terry Knapp, with respect to certain property held by him in the City of Walla Walla.(CP 1055-1060)
- 2. The trial court erred by determining that the condemnation of Terry Knapp's property is necessary to eliminate a blight on the surrounding neighborhood. (CP 1059)
- 3. The trial court erred by determining that the condemnation of Terry Knapp's property is for a use that is really public.(CP 1059)
- 4. The trial court erred in concluding that the contemplated use of Terry Knapp's property justifies condemnation of that property as a matter of public necessity.(CP 1059)
 - 5. The trial court erred by entering finding of fact no. 2.4:

The Walla Walla City Council City [sic] adopted City Resolution 2013-110 on September 11, 2013 after appropriate notice declaring that the dwelling, buildings, other structures, and property located at 712 Whitman Street in Walla Walla, Washington, constitute a blight on the surrounding neighborhood

and that acquisition by the City of the property located at 712 Whitman Street is necessary to eliminate nighborhood blight. (CP 1057)

6. The trial court erred by entering finding of fact no. 2.5:

A reasonable effort was made by the City of Walla Walla to acquire the property located at 712 Whitman Street. The property owner was non-responsive to the City's attempt to negotiate and has thereby rejected the City's efforts to acquire the property located at 712 Whitman Street by negotiation.(CP 1057)

7. The trial court erred by entering finding of fact no. 2.6:

Notice of planned final action was mailed on January 24, 2014 and published on January 29, 2014 and February 5, 2014 in compliance with RCW 8.25.290 that the Walla Walla City Council would consider whether or not to authorize condemnation of the property located at 712 Whitman Street during its regularly scheduled City Council meeting for February 12, 2014.(CP 1057-58)

8. The trial court erred by entering finding of fact no. 2.9:

The executive authority of the City of Walla Walla properly determined on September 3, 2013 that the dwellings, buildings, other structures, and real property located at 712 Whitman Street in Walla Walla, Washington, constitute a threat to public health, safety, and welfare based upon its well-documented years of repeated and continuous code violations.(CP 1058)

9. The trial court erred by entering finding of fact no. 2.10:

A dwelling, building, and other structures exist on the property, and such dwelling, building, and other structures have not been lawfully occupied for a period of one year or more.(CP 1058)

10. The trial court erred by entering finding of fact no. 2.10.1:

The property has been without water since 2005, and it has been without water ever since. Any occupancy of the property since 2005 unlawfully violated the International Maintenance Code.(CP 1058-59)

11. The trial court erred by entering finding of fact no. 2.10.2:

The dwelling on the property was properly declared to be dangerous and unfit for human occupancy in 2005. Any occupancy of the property since 2005 unlawfully violated the Uniform Code for the Abatement of Dangerous Buildings.(CP 1059)

12. The trial court erred by entering finding of fact no. 2.11:

The dwelling, buildings, other structures, and real property located at 712 Whitman Street in Walla Walla, Washington are a blight on the surrounding neighborhood.(CP 1059)

Issues

- 1. Whether the trial court erred by entering its order of public use and necessity in the condemnation case brought by the respondent City of Walla Walla against the appellant, Terry Knapp, with respect to certain real property held by him in the City of Walla Walla.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred by determining that the condemnation of Terry Knapp's property is necessary to eliminate a blight on the surrounding neighborhood.

- 3. Whether the trial court erred by determining that the condemnation of Terry Knapp's property is for a use that is really public.
- 4. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that the contemplated use of Terry Knapp's property justifies condemnation of that property as a matter of public necessity.
- 5. Whether the trial court erred by entering certain findings of fact in support of its order of public use and necessity, specifically, findings of fact nos. 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 2.9, 2.10, 2.10.1, 2.10.2, and 2.11.

Standard of Review

The trial court saw no witnesses, heard no testimony, weighed no evidence and reconciled no conflicting evidence in reaching its decision. Therefore, review is de novo. *Police Guild v. Liquor Control Bd.*, 112 Wn. 2d 35-36, 769 P. 2d 283 (1989); *In re Estate of Nelson*, 85 Wn. 2d 602,605, 537 P. 2d 765 (1975); *Amren v. City of Kalama*, 131 Wn. 2d 25,32, 929 P. 2d 389 (1997).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Course of Proceedings

In April, 2014, the City of Walla Walla petitioned Superior Court to condemn certain residential real property held by Terry Knapp.(CP 3) The petition alleged that the taking of Mr. Knapp's property was for a public use pursuant to RCW 35.80A.010.(CP 3) That statute allows a municipality to condemn property that "constitutes a blight on the surrounding neighborhood," on proof of any two of these three factors:

A "blight on the surrounding neighborhood" is any property, dwelling, building, or structure that meets any two of the following factors: (1) If a dwelling, building, or structure exists on the property, the dwelling, building, or structure has not been lawfully occupied for a period of one year or more; (2) The property, dwelling, building, or structure constitutes a threat to the public health, safety, or welfare as determined by the executive authority of the county, city, or town, or the designee of the executive authority; or (3) the property, dwelling, building, or structure is or has been associate with illegal drug activity during the previous twelve months.

The City moved for an order of public use and necessity based on the first two of the foregoing factors.(CP 24-29)

The trial court granted the City's motion after hearing oral argument on June 16, 2014.(CP 1061) Although Terry Knapp appeared through counsel and contested by declaration under penalty of perjury

factual submissions by the City, no trial was held. No testimony was heard. Instead, the trial court simply signed findings of fact, conclusions of law and an order of public use and necessity handed up by counsel for the City following oral argument on the motion docket of June 16, 2014.(CP 1061,1055) This appeal ensued.

Facts

The record is replete with factual assertions bythe City. Mainly, these assertions are a catalog of complaints about the person of Terry Knapp. Insofar as they pertain to the property in question they purport to fulfill two criteria of RCW 35.80A.010. The third factor involving illegal drug activity is not material to this case.

Concerning the first factor that may be one of two grounds that must be proven before a property may be condemned as a blight, the City argues that its building official has never issued a certificate of occupancy concerning a structure on the property. Based on the lack of a certificate of occupancy, the City contends that Terry Knapp's structure has not been lawfully occupied since 2005.(CP 1053-54) While there is nothing in the record to show that there are likely thousands of dwellings in WallaWalla that have never been issued a certificate of occupancy but which are

lawfully occupied, the record affords an easy explanation of the legality of the situation at 712 Whitman Street.

The property in question has been under construction for several years.(CP 1054,1041-42) Indeed, the property is the subject of a building permit duly issued by the Walla Walla Joint Community Development Agency on December 27, 2013.(CP 1042,1047) Moreover, Mr. Knapp denies he lives there.(CP 1042:13) That Mr. Knapp's house that is under construction may not be lived in until final approval by the building inspector is merely true, but unsurprising and unprobative. Except for the City's assertion, how this situation fulfills the first factor specified in RCW 35.80A.010 that must be proven to condemn property because it is a blight is not shown in the record.

Subsidiary findings of fact 2.10.1 and 2.10.2 concerning lack of city water service and a 2005 declaration that Mr. Knapp's property was dangerous and unfit for human occupancy (CP 1058-59) are connected to the first factor of RCW 35.80A.010 by the same argument the City makes about the lack of a certificate of occupancy. How a lack of city water service signals blight as meant by the condemnation statute is shown only argumentatively in the record. How a declaration in 2005 that the property was dangerous and unfit proves that the property constitutes a blight in 2014 is similarly supported by bare inference.

With respect to the second factor asserted by the City in support of its condemnation petition, a history of various city code violations is offered.(CP 8) On this basis the trial court concluded, as a finding of fact, that Mr. Knapp's property was properly determined by the executive authority of the City to "constitute a threat to public health, safety, and welfare based upon its well-documented years of repeated and continuous code violations."(CP 1067) Nowhere did a judicial body make that determination. The trial court merely recited what the city manager did as the executive. More crucial, Mr. Knapp described his property as free of any hazard to public health, safety or welfare.(CP 1042:4-7) This factual declaration is not directly contravened by the City. No submission by the City shows that Mr. Knapp's property "constitutes a blight" at the time the judicial inquiry and determination in this case ostensibly occurred.

ARGUMENT

- I. WHERE, AS HERE, NO JUDICIAL INQUIRY DETERMINED THAT TERRY KNAPP'S PROPERTY CONSTITUTES A BLIGHT, CONDEMNATION MUST BE DENIED.
 - A. The Trial Court Conducted no Inquiry as Required by the Washington Constitution to Determine that the Condemnation Sought by the City was for a Public Use.

As noted by Professor Stoebuck, "... since Washington has, except in urban renewal cases, adopted a very restrictive view of public use, there is a greater possibility of obtaining a finding of no public use in Washington than in most jurisdictions." 17 Wash. Prac., Real Estate § 928 (2d). This observation follows from the command of the Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 16 which specifically provides that "whenever an attempt is made to take private property for a use alleged to be public, the question whether the contemplated use be really public shall be a judicial question, and determined as such, without regard to any legislative assertion that the use is public. ..."

As shown by the trial court's order of public use and necessity, the decision below did not flow from an authentic, actual judicial inquiry concerning the reality of the proposed public use. Indeed, the trial court

decision merely endorsed, in conclusory terms, the action by the executive authority of the City.(CP 1058-59)

Condemnation may not be allowed on a showing that nothing more than the public interest will be advanced. A genuine public use must be proven. *In re Seattle*, 96 Wn. 2d 616,627, 638 P. 2d 549 (1981). The determination of public use "depends on the particular facts in each case." *In re Port of Seattle*, 80 Wn. 2d 392,394, 495 P. 2d 327 (1972). The constraints imposed by the *Washington Constitution* and controlling cases do not allow condemnation of Terry Knapp's property. The trial court should be reversed and the City's petition for condemnation should be dismissed.

B. The Record Shows that Terry Knapp's Property does Not Constitute a Blight.

The record shows that the City's position fails to meet governing, statutory criteria set forth in RCW 35.80A.010. The contention that the property in question has not been lawfully occupied for a period of one year or more fails on logic and fact. The City's argument appears to follow this syllogism:

- (1) The owner of any real property must have a certificate of occupancy before that property may be lawfully occupied.
- (2) Terry Knapp was never issued

a certificate of occupancy with with respect to the property in question.

(3) Therefore, the property in question has not been lawfully occupied.

There is no support in logic, law or fact for the major premise as applied to this case. That the owner of real property lacks a certificate of occupancy, in and of itself, does not prove lack of lawful occupancy or blight.

The record shows that the City has failed to meet the first factor for proof of blight that is required by statute. That factor requires the city to show that a "dwelling, building, or structure on the property has not been lawfully occupied for a period of one year or more." RCW 35.80A.010. Logical analysis of the phrase "not been lawfully occupied" produces these categories:

- (1) A property might be lawfully occupied;
- (2) A property might be lawfully unoccupied;
- (3) A property might be unlawfully occupied;
- (4) A property might be unlawfully unoccupied.

The facts of this case show that the first and second categories should be disregarded. The City does not advance the fatal proposition that any occupation or unoccupation of the property has been lawful. Thus, the inquiry must focus on the third and fourth analytical categories.

As to the third category, there is no proof and no finding that Mr. Knapp's property has ever been occupied for a period of one year or more. Indeed, Mr. Knapp has declared, without rebuttal, that he does not occupy the property.(CP1042:13) Only speculation grounds a contention that the property has been unlawfully occupied for a period of a year or more. Therefore, the City has failed to show unlawful occupation.

As to the fourth category, the law and the facts do not show that Mr. Knapp's property has been unlawfully unoccupied for a year or more. The City's assertion that the property lacks a certificate of occupancy, lacks connected water service and bears a declaration of unfitness, avails it nothing, absent proof that the property has been occupied. Where, as here, a valid building permit has been issued covering construction on Mr. Knapp's property, that property should be regarded as necessarily, naturally and lawfully unoccupied. Therefore, the City's proof fails to establish the first factor imposed by RCW 35.80A.010 as a prerequisite to condemnation for blight.

Not only does the City's proof fail the criterion concerning lawful occupancy imposed by the governing statute, the City's proof shows that the property does not constitute a threat to public health, safety or welfare. First, the City's contention with respect to this factor is based on a history of code violations. The statute requires proof in the present tense.

Specifically, the City must show that the property "constitutes a threat to the public health, safety, or welfare." That the property might have "constituted" a threat is insufficient. The word "constitutes" is not defined in the statute. Therefore, it must be accorded its ordinary meaning. *Dahl-Smyth, Inc. v. Walla Walla*, 148 Wn. 2d 835,842-43, 64 P. 3d 15 (2003). Clearly, "constitutes" is in the present tense. That something might have "constituted" blight in the past does not satisfy the statutory requirements set forth in the clear language of RCW 35.80A.010.

As shown by the declaration of Terry Knapp (CP 1041-47), his property does not threaten public health, safety or welfare. The City must concede this point as its own regulatory agency has issued a building permit for the very property in question. The trial court should be reversed and the petition for condemnation should be dismissed.

II. ALTERNATIVELY, THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO RESOVE CONTESTED QUESTIONS OF FACT, AND, THEREFORE, THE CASE SHOULD BE REMANDED FOR FURTHER PROCEEDINGS.

While Terry Knapp has shown that condemnation of his property should not be allowed, the lightest touch by this Court should result in remand for further proceedings. Clearly, the trial court failed to resolve contested questions of fact. The order of public use and necessity should

not have been granted based on a motion, where, as here, factual deficiencies in the City's position were exposed by Mr. Knapp's submissions, including the granting of a building permit for the property in question.(CP 1041-47) The *Washington Constitution* and governing case law allow condemnation of private property only after all material questions of fact are resolved judicially. *Washington Constitution, Article* 1, § 16; *In re Port of Seattle*, 80 Wn. 2d at 394. The constitutionally mandated judicial resolution never occurred. The trial court should be reversed.

III. THE APPELLANT SHOULD BE AWARDED HIS COSTS, INCLUDING ATTORNEY FEES, PURSUANT TO RCW 8.25.075(1)(a), BECAUSE THE CITY CANNOT ACQUIRE TERRY KNAPP'S REAL PROPERTY BY CONDEMNATION.

As shown by the foregoing points and authorities, the decision by this Court should be nothing less than "a final adjudication that the condemnor cannot acquire the real property by condemnation." RCW 8.25.075(1)(a). Therefore, Terry Knapp should be awarded his costs, including reasonable attorney fees.

CONCLUSION

On the basis of the foregoing argument the trial court order of public use and necessity should be reversed and the petition for condemnation by the City of Walla Walla should be dismissed. Terry Knapp should be awarded his costs, including reasonable attorney fees.