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

4. Argument 

A. Standard of Review 

A trial court's decision on public use is reviewed to determine if it is 

supported by substantial evidence. City of Blaine v. Feldstein, 129 Wn.App. 

73, 79, 117P.3d 1169(2005);Seattlev. Loutsis!nvestment, 16Wn.App.158, 

174,554 P.2d 379 (1976), review denied 88 Wn.2d 1016 (1977). In addition, 

the appellate court views substantial evidence in a light most favorable to the 

party who prevailed on the issue of public use in the trial court. Uti!. Dist. 

v. For. Trade Zone Indus., 159 Wn.2d 555,578, 151 P.3d 176 (2007). 

B. Appellant failed to preserve his procedural complaints for 
appeal 

Mr. Knapp complains that the Superior Court did not hold a hearing 

with live witnesses, and his principal argument on appeal is that the court 

therefore did not conduct an authentic judicial inquiry to determine public 

use. He argues that the matter should be remanded for further proceedings. 

However, " [ d]espite ample opportunity to request a separate evidentiary 
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hearing, no such request was made. This issue may not be raised for the first 

time on appeal." State v. Hartley, 51 Wn.App. 442, 449, 754 P.2d 131 

(1988). 

Property owners in Bellevue School Dist. v. Lee, 70 Wn.2d 947,949, 

425 P.2d 902 (1967) argued at the trial court level against condemnation on 

the basis that the action of the governmental entity was allegedly arbitrary, 

capricious, or fraudulent. For the first time on appeal, they tried to add an 

argument that the entity's condemnation authority was statutorily limited. 

Lee, 70 Wn.2d at 949-50. The Supreme Court rejected that attempt, writing: 

In a plethora of decisions, involving many varying situations, 
this court has steadfastly adhered to the rule that a litigant cannot 
remain silent as to claimed error during trial and later, for the first 
time, urge objections thereto on appeal. The trial court must have an 
opportunity to consider and rule upon a litigant's theory of the case 
before this court can consider it on appeal. 

Lee, 70 Wn.2d at 950. 

Mr. Knapp argued in the trial court below only that the record did not 

support the blight determination made by the City. Nowhere did he argue 

that he was entitled to the trial type hearing that he now claims on appeal 

should have been provided. CP 1048-52. Even if it is assumed that Mr. 

Knapp could have demanded a bench trial on the issue of public use, he 

cannot now urge that the failure to conduct one constituted error. He didn't 
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ask for one and failed to preserve the issue for appeal. 

C. The Superior Court properly made a public use 
determination. 

A court in a condemnation proceeding is not required to hold a trial 

type hearing to find a public use. 11 The trial court has the discretion to 

determine whether there are factual and credibility issues that require a 

testimonial hearing. If there are no relevant factual disputes or credibility 

issues and the record is sufficient to fully inform the court, the case may be 

properly resolved without a testimonial hearing. 11 City of Blaine v. Feldstein, 

129 Wn.App. 73, 76, 117 P.3d 1169 (2005). Mr. Knapp failed to raise any 

relevant factual dispute in the proceedings below, and the Superior Court 

properly determined public use based upon the record. 

The City acknowledges the general observation made by Professor 

Stoebuck, quoted on page 11 of appellant's brief, that since 11 Washington has, 

except in urban renewal cases, adopted a very restrictive view of public use, 

there is a greater possibility of obtaining a finding of no public use in 

Washington than inmostjurisdictions. 11 WILLIAM B. STOEBUCK& JoHNW. 

WEAVER, W ASillNGTONPRACTICE: REAL ESTATE: PROPERTY LAW § 9.28 (2d 

ed. 2004). This is not however a case where a municipality condemned 

property for a reason heretofore unknown at law. Urban renewal cases 
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address "blighted areas" and public use is defined by statute. RCW 

35.81.005. Public use in this particular type of condemnation proceeding 

addresses "blight'' on a surrounding neighborhood and is also defined by 

statute. RCW 35.80A.010. 

Chapter 35.80A RCW authorizes condemnation of property to 

eliminate a blight on the surrounding neighborhood. RCW 35.80A.Ol0 

provides in pertinent part that: "Condemnation of property, dwellings, 

buildings, and structures for the purposes described in this chapter is declared 

to be for a public use." A property may be condemned under Chapter 3 5 .80A 

RCW as a "blight on the surrounding neighborhood" if it meets any two of 

the following factors: 

(1) If a dwelling, building, or structure exists on the property, the 
dwelling, building, or structure has not been lawfully occupied for a 
period of one year or more; (2) the property, dwelling, building, or 
structure constitutes a threat to the public health, safety, or welfare as 
determined by the executive authority of the county, city, or town, or 
the designee of the executive authority; or (3) the property, dwelling, 
building, or structure is or has been associated with illegal drug 
activity during the previous twelve months. 

RCW 35.80A.Ol0. 

Washington has long recognized that the legislature may declare in 

the first instance that a purpose is public, and its declaration will be 

disregarded only if the courts find it to be unfounded. Hallauer v. Spectrum 
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Props., 143 Wn.2d 126, 138-40, 18 P.3d 540 (2001); Anderson v. Superior 

Court, 119 Wash. 406, 410, 205 P. 1051 (1922). Chapter 35.80A RCW 

declares elimination of blight to be a public use. RCW 35.80A.010 further 

defines what constitutes a "blight on the surrounding neighborhood." Mr. 

Knapp did not challenge the validity of the statute in either the trial court or 

his assignment of errors. See CP 1048-52 (Mr. Knapp's response in the trial 

court); Brief of Appellant, pp. 3-6 (Mr. Knapp's assignments of error raised 

herein). He consequently cannot do so now. Det. of Brock, 126 Wn.App. 

957, 960-61 n.l, 110 P.3d 791 (2005) (failure to assign error); Bellevue 

School Dist. v. Lee, 70 Wn.2d 947, 950-51, 425 P.2d 902 (1967) (failure to 

raise issue in trial court). The only issues relevant to the determination of 

public use in this case are those listed in RCW 35.80A.010. 

Even if Mr. Knapp could now belatedly challenge the statute, the 

Washington Supreme Court has already held that elimination of blight is a 

public use. Miller v. Tacoma, 61 Wn.2d 374, 382-88, 378 P.2d 464 (1963). 

Respondent therefore submits that the legislative declaration of public use in 

Chapter 35.80A RCW cannot be considered "unfounded," and the public use 

issue in this case therefore involves only application of the statute as opposed 

to a novel question to be cut from whole cloth. The public nature of the use 

is legislatively declared and not subject to attack for genuineness. See also 
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Berman v. Parker, 348 U.S. 26, 31-33, 75 S.Ct. 98, 99 L.Ed. 27 (1954). 

The first relevant inquiry under RCW 35.80A.010(1) is whether or 

not a dwelling has been lawfully occupied. The Superior Court found in this 

case that the property had not been lawfully occupied for over a year, 

because it has been without water since 2005 and because the house on the 

property had been declared dangerous in 2005. CP 1058-59, ~2.10. It was 

therefore not capable under any circumstances of being lawfully occupied 

since that time. 

The record establishes that the house at 712 Whitman St. was 

declared dangerous on July 1, 2005, and that notice and order has never been 

rescinded. CP 1053, ~ 1.2; CP 331-41. A building cannot be lawfully 

occupied after it has been declared dangerous. CP 44, ~ E (local ordinance 

adopting dangerous building code); CP 55, § 203, CP 59, § 404, CP 63, § 

701.3 (provisions of the dangerous building code prohibiting occupancy). 

Mr. Knapp knew that the house had been declared dangerous as evidenced 

by his untimely attempt to appeal the dangerous building order in 2005. CP 

342-46. He made a conclusory assertion in his declaration in response to the 

motion for a determination of public use that the house isn't dangerous, but 

he admitted that compliance work had not been completed. CP 1042, ~ 3. 

He said that "I intend to complete all ofthe items." CP 1042, ~ 3. Far from 
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contesting that the house had not been lawfully occupied, Mr. Knapp asserted 

that he knows that "the residence cannot be lived in prior to final inspection 

approval" and that "I am not living at the property." CP 1042, ,-r 4. 

The record also established that 712 Whitman St. has been 

disconnected from any water supply since 2005. CP 872-79; CP 103 8-3 9. 

A house cannot be lawfully occupied unless it is connected to water service. 

CP 89, ,-r J, CP 172, ,-r J, and CP 239, ,-r J (local ordinances adopting the 

property maintenance code); CP 116, §§ 501.2 and 505.1, CP 199, §§ 501.2 

and 505.1, CP 284, § 501.2, and CP 286, § 505.1 (provisions ofthe property 

maintenance code prohibiting occupancy of a house unless its plumbing 

fixtures are connected to water). Mr. Knapp attempts to blame the City for 

his failure to connect the property to water, but his declaration nonetheless 

admits that the house is not connected to water. CP 1042, ,-r 4. 

Notwithstanding Mr. Knapp's attempt on pages 13-14 of appellant's 

brief to rewrite RCW 35.80A.01 0 with reference to how a property "might" 

be occupied, the relevant fact for purposes ofRCW 3 5. 80A. 01 0( 1) is whether 

or not a house has been lawfully occupied in the past year. The statute is 

unambiguous and therefore not susceptible to Mr. Knapp's self-described 

"logical analysis" of its meaning by creation and manipulation of categories 

which change the requirement from a showing of lack of lawful occupancy 
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to a need for a showing an "unlawful occupancy." See State v. Gray, 174 

Wn.2d 920,927,280 P.3d 1110 (2012) ("Ifthe statute is unambiguous after 

a review of the plain meaning, the court's inquiry is at an end"). Mr. Knapp 

complains about whose fault it is that no one could legally reside at 712 

Whitman St. during the past 9 years, but he came forth with no facts upon 

which to dispute that the house has in fact not been lawfully occupied during 

that time. The dangerous building declaration still stands, and no certificate 

of occupancy has been issued. CP 1053-54, ~~ 1.2-1.3. The house has no 

running water. CP 1039, ~ 1.6. It has therefore not been lawfully occupied, 

and Mr. Knapp presents no relevant factual dispute on that issue. 

The second relevant inquiry under RCW 35.80A.010(2) is whether 

the executive authority for a city has determined that a property constitutes 

a threat to public health, safety, or welfare. The Superior Court found in this 

case that the Walla Walla City Manager properly determined that the 

property constitutes a threat to public, health, safety, and welfare. CP 1058, 

~2.9. 

The record established that the Walla Walla City Manager determined 

on September 3, 2013 that the property at 712 Whitman St. constitutes a 

threat to the public health, safety, and welfare. CP 304-07 (City Manager 

determination). Mr. Knapp made a conclusory assertion in his June 12, 2014 
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declaration that the property does not pose an immediate risk to the health, 

safety or welfare of any person. CP 1042, ~ 3. However, he did not present 

anything to dispute that the City Manager determination was in fact made. 

This case involves a public use that has been statutorily declared and 

defined by the Washington Legislature in RCW 35.80A.010. It was 

incumbent on Mr. Knapp in the trial court to either submit facts 

demonstrating that the requirements of the statute were not met or to 

challenge the validity of the statute. He did neither. He failed to present any 

facts to dispute that 712 Whitman St. has not been lawfully occupied since 

2005 or that the Walla Walla City Manager determined that the property 

constitutes a threat to the public health, safety, and welfare. Those are the 

only relevant facts under RCW 35.80A.010(1) & (2). 

Mr. Knapp instead tried to argue that, after twenty (20) years of 

noncompliance, he continues to work on the property and will eventually 

make it habitable. CP 1041-43. That is not relevant under RCW 

35.80A.010, and the Superior Court properly exercised its discretion to 

determine public use on the basis of the record before it. See City of Blaine 

v. Feldstein, 129 Wn.App. 73, 76, 117 P.3d 1169 (2005); cf Grimwood v. 

University of Puget Sd., 110 Wn.2d 355, 359-60, 753 P.2d 517 (1988) 

(discussing the type of facts needed to avoid summary judgment in an 
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ordinary civil case). 

D. 712 Whitman St. is blighted property and its acquisition 
is a public use and necessity. 

Mr. Knapp complains that the 11 trial court decision merely endorsed, 

in conclusory terms, the action by the executive authority of the City. 11 Brief 

of Appellant, pp. 11-12. The City submits that this is not a valid complaint. 

The City acknowledges the general rule that 11the question of whether 

a proposed acquisition is really for a public use is a matter for judicial 

inquiry[,] 11 and that 11What constitutes a public use depends on the particular 

facts in each case. 11 In rePort ofSeattle, 80 Wn.2d 392, 394, 495 P.2d 327 

(1972). The City submits, however, that Mr. Knapp cites and incorrectly 

interprets this general rule on page 16 of appellant's brief as a mandate for de 

novo trials when making public use and necessity determinations. The role 

of the court in a condemnation proceeding for blight is limited. In Apostle 

v. Seattle, 77 Wn.2d 59, 63,459 P.2d 792 (1969), the Washington Supreme 

Court explained: 

[F]ortunately or unfortunately, the judiciary does not have the 
responsibility of passing on the credibility of witnesses, or of 
weighing the evidence with reference to blight in such a proceeding . 
. . . . [T]he legislature has made the local governing body (the city 
council in this instance) the tribunal which makes the factual 
determination of blight. The province of the court is only to 
determine whether the factual determination ofblight is supported by 
sufficient evidence to prevent the city council's determination from 
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being arbitrary and capricious. The trial court may not overrule the 
city council's determination ofblight merely because it believes that 
the area is not blighted. 

The statute at issue in this case made the City Manager the authority 

which makes a factual determination whether "the property, dwelling, 

building or structure constitutes a threat to the public health, safety, or 

welfare" and the City Council the tribunal which makes the factual 

determination whether the acquisition of the property "is necessary to 

eliminate neighborhood blight." RCW 35.80A.010. "In the condemnation 

context, "'necessary" . . . mean[s] reasonable necessity under the 

circumstances.' .... It does not mean immediate, absolute, or indispensable 

need." Reg'l Transit Auth. v. Miller, 156 Wn.2d 403, 411, 128 P.3d 588 

(2006) (citations omitted); see also State ex rel. Lange v. Sup. Ct., 61 Wn.2d 

153, 156, 377 P.2d 425 (1963). 

It was not, as argued by Mr. Knapp, the responsibility of the court to 

retry those issues anew, weigh evidence, or pass on the credibility of 

witnesses. "The courts ought not substitute their judgment for that of the 

administrative or legislative agency charged by law with choosing the 

methods or means of accomplishing the public purpose." Steilacoom v. 

Thompson, 69 Wn.2d 705, 711, 419 P.2d 989 (1966). Decisions delegated 

by condemnation procedures to municipal authorities may be overcome only 
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by a showing of actual fraud or such arbitrary and capricious conduct that 

amounts to constructive fraud. See Des Moines v. Hemenway, 73 Wn.2d 130, 

139,437 P.2d 171 (1968) (applying the rule to necessity determinations); see 

also Reg'! TransitAuth. v. Miller, 156 Wn.2d 403,411, 128 P.3d 588 (2006). 

The City Manager determined on September 3, 2013 that "the 

dwelling, buildings, structures and property at 712 Whitman St. in the City 

of Walla Walla constitutes a threat to public health, safety, and welfare." CP 

305, ~ 1.4. The City Manager did make a "present tense" finding of a threat 

to public health, safety, and welfare. He found that the "property, dwelling, 

buildings and other structures at 712 Whitman St. have been, and continue 

to be, a blight on the surrounding neighborhood and a threat to public health, 

safety, and welfare, and in particular the health, safety, and welfare of 

neighbors to that location." CP 306-07, ~ 1.4.2. This finding is supported by 

the record of continuing code violations, CP 773-77, and reports of members 

from the neighborhood surrounding the property that noxious conditions 

currently persist. See CP 751-768. One neighbor reported on June 9, 2013 

that the "yard is strewn with all manner of shanty shacks, decommissioned 

cars, outhouses, beehives, and who knows what else." CP 767. Another 

confirmed on June 13, 2013 that the "[b Jack yard of property is wall to wall 

with shanty style structures filled with lumber and junk and possibly some 
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old cars. The grass is dry and there is little vegetation." CP 762. Another 

on June 14, 2013 reported an "unfinished tree house towering close to the 

fence line .... " CP 766. Another wrote on June 14, 2013: 

We have lived two houses to the east of 712 Whitman Street for 
nearly 3 years, and have always assumed the property was occupied, 
based upon the routine and frequent observations of the owner and 
others at the property. However, in this time, no visible 
improvements have been made to the structure. We have never seen 
any sort of trade person(s) visit the property, or seen the owner with 
any types of materials one might associate with home improvements. 
In addition, we have never heard any sounds typically associated with 
such improvements, such as any use of a power tool, hammering of 
nails, etc. 

CP 759. Another explained that his family have lived in the neighborhood 

for sixteen years and the residence at 712 Whitman St. "has always been an 

eyesore and for most of the time that we've resided here, there has been a 

large amount of questionable activity there as well." CP 751. 

The City Manager buttressed that determination with an additional 

finding that:

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